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TRFF VALE IZAILWAY. 

Railway Departrnent, Board of T~ade,  
S, Kichmoud Terrace, Whitehall, London, S.V., 

13th February, 1911. 
SIR. 

r HAVE the honour to report for the informatiou of the Board of Trade, in 
compliance with the Order of the 23rd January, the result of my inquiry iuto the causes 
of the collision which occurred on the 23rd January between a passenger train and a coai 
train at Coke Ovens near Pontypridd on the Taff ~ f a l e  Railway. 

I n  this case, as the 9.10 a.m. passenger traiu from Treherbert to Cardiff was 
tmvelling between Gyfeillon Lower signal-box and Rhondda Cutting Junction signal-box, 
it ran into the rear of a mineral tmin sta,nding at  tke No. 1 down line home signal of the 
latter signal-box. 

Eleven passengers were killed, four passengers and the guard of the mineral traiu 
were seriously injured", and 37 passengers have. complained of minor injuries or shock. 
A passenger brakesmall was also slightly injured. 

The passenger train consisted of a six,wheels-coupled tank engine with a trailing 
radial axle, rnnning chimney in front, weight 60 tons empty, fitted with the automatic 
vacuum brakes with blocks working on the six coupled wheels, and of the following 11 
vehicles in order named from the engine, viz. :- 

... Passenger brake ran ... 
Bogie third class, S compartments 
Bogie composite, 6 compartments 

... Passenger brake van ... 
Bogie third class, 7 compartments 
Bogie composite, 7 compartments 

... Bogie third, S compartments 
Base third, 7 compartments ... 

... Passenger brake van ... 
Great Western Railway milk van 
Great Western Railway milk van 

ft. 
37 
52 
39 
37 
41 
48 
47 
41 
34 
31 
31 

Weight Of 
empty. Class oE vehicles. 

ins. 
1 
7x 

114 
5 
8% 
2 
0 
8% 
11 
6 
6 

No. of wheels. Length over buffers. 

, 
tons 
13 
20 
14 
l 2  
15 
20 
19 
15 
11 
10 
10 

cwts. qrs. 
0 0 
l8 0 
16 0 
19 0 
15 1 
3 2 
11 2 
15 0 
19 0 
14 0 
14 0 

- I l l 

~ h e s e  vehicles were fitted with the automatic vacuum brake working blocks on all 
wheels with the exception of the centre pairs of the six-wheeled vans. The total length: 
of the train including the engine was 478 k. 4 ins. and the weight when empty 
226 tons 5 cm%. . ~ 

The first three-vehicles formed the portion of the train from the Ferndale branch 
line, which mere attached to the main portion at  Forth. 

The engine and five leading vehicles were derailed, and'the first, second, fourth and 
fifth ~ 6 e ~ e b a d l y  damaged. 

The position and condition of the vehicles of the passenger train, and of the rear 
vehicles of the mineral traiu (which consisted of engine, 46 loaded coal trucks and a . 
brake mm) were as follows, viz. :- 

Pissengei engine No. 193 (six-wheeled radial tank with trailing radial wheds) 
completely.derailedd; leading end of engine in  " six-foot " way on the down line side and 
close up to near running rail o f  down relief line (No. 2) .adjoining ; engine listed 
somewhat to the left ; the fore part of engine resting on underframe of mineral brake-van 
No. 6361 ; the latter completely demolished, the broken body of same piled up on buffer 
beam of enpine ; roof of van lying on outside of. down relief line. (No. 1)  about 20 feet 
in admnce of engine, together with a portion of body of van lying on relief line No. 2. 

- 
' One Lewis Merthy Colliery Company's waggon (No. 1626), lying on side in six-foot 

way-on 'right-hand side of engine, totally wrecked, and waggon No. 1661 owned by.the. 
same Companylying immediately in front of and against right-hand leading end of engine 
cut ill two portions through side doors and totally wrecked ; coal and debris of same piled 
uuder engine. I n  front of this, one coal waggon (No. 1.585) of same Conlpany off road ;. 

both ends of waggons badly damaged. Three other waggons of same Company, in front 
of the l-,tter, damaged, but remained on road. 

Leading passenger bmke-van, six-wheeled, No. 241, totally wrecked ; part of under- 
frame, and part of body, telescoped into No. 349 third class carriage, theunderframe . : 

resting at about seat level ; the rear portion of body of van resting~in body of ca:&gei 
the right-ha.rd side frame hyyi;ojng cnt throu,zl: fica cornpartmints thereof, c u d  the 1 r n G ~ : y  
--P-- . .. ................. 

" 'Ibj :I:,;> ::ji;::;: d:?.l oE hi3 <iLjrr,rj~fi, . . ... .,. ,. . . . . .  



end of body of van resting on cab of engiue ; the leading part of the underframe was under 
the engine ; left-hand side frame overhanging six-foot way about 2 ft. 6 ins. ; bogies 
destroyed. 

No. 349, third class, eight-compartment, eight-wheeled bogie carriage, derailed t u  
left-hand side ; frame and five leading compartments totally ~recked  ; leading bogie 
damaged, trailing one remaining on rails undamaged. 

No. 31, composite first and second class, six-compartment, eight-wheeled bogie 
carriage, leading bogie off road ; frame slightly damaged. 

No. 266 passenger brake-van, six wheels, part of body and part of uuderframe 
telescoped int,o No. 203, third class, seven-compartment, eight-wheeled bogie carriage, the 
rear portion of underframe of brake-van resting partly on floor of carriage and partly 
above it, having cut through five leading end comprtments of the carriage ; right-hand 
side frame overhanging six-foot way ; body of passenger brake-van almost entirely wrecked, 
and frame of same badly damaged ; fore part of body of carriage totally wrecked, and 
frame badly damaged ; trailing bogie of carriage remained on rails. 

No. 77, first and second class composite, seven-compartment, eight-wheeled bogie 
carriage, remained on rail ; slight damage to buffers. 

No. 326, third class, eight-compartment, eight-wheeled bogie carriage, frame 
.slightly strained. Remained on rails. 

The remaining vehicles compiising the train remained on rails undamaged, viz. :- 
No. 109, third class carriage. 
No. 236, passenger brake-van. 
No. 1864, Great Western Railway milk van. 
No. 1789, Great Western Railway milk van. 

The mineral train was about 300 yards in length and was 800 tons in weight. 
The rear of the brake-vim was standing about 40 yards ahead of the Rhondda Cutting 

Junction distant signals, which are on the same post as, and underneath the advance 
starting signals for Gyfeillon Lower signal-box. 

The collision occurred at about 9.48 am.  on a slightly misty morning. 
Details of damage to permanent way and rolling stock are given in the Appendix. 

Description. 
The signal cabins a,t either end of the block section concerned are Gyfeillon Lower 

and Rhondda Cutting Junction. They are 986 yards apart, a id  the down lines approxi- 
mately run from north-west ,h south-east. There are three down lines and three up lines 
between these cabins, and some sidings between the sets of lines. There are separate 
block instruments for. each line. 

The local names of the dowu lines used by the witnesses are- 
No. 1 down line for the passenger line (which is also used by mineral trains) ; 
No. 2 relief road (a mineral line only) ; 
No. 3 relief road (a mineral line only). 

The passenger line is between the two relief roads-No. 2 being on the left and 
NO. 3 on the fight of NO. 1. 

All these down lines and the sidings between the up and down lines converge 
'into a single down line before reaching Rhondda Cutting Junction cabin, and opposite 
this cabin there is only one up and one down h e .  

The gradients of the down lines between the two cabins, starting from Gyfeillon 
Lower are as follows, vie. :- 

l in 280 falling for abont 200 yards 
1 in 196 .. .. 233 .. 

?, 1 ,  1 ,  

1 in 320 ,, ,, 166 
Horizontal to Rhondda Cutting cab?n. 

The Lines curve considerably. The down line is straight Gonz opposite Gyfeillon 
Lower cabin for 260 yards, then a 25-chain curve to the right for 154 yards, then 
straight for 66 vards. then a 20-chain curve to the left for 176 vards. then a 15-chain 
curvz to the riiht for 264 yards, and thea straight for 66' p rdsd to  dpposite Rhondda 
Cutting cabin. 

The following distauces may be noted, all measured from the centre of Gyfeillon 
Lower cabin to~vards Rhondda Cutting cabin :- 

: To down inner home signals, Gyfeillon Lower cabin .;.. . 46 yards 
,, starting >, 19 ... 273 ,, 
,, advance starting ,, I >  ... 383 ,, 

(The down distant signals for Rhondda Cutting Junction cibin are on the same posts as 
and underneath tbe advance starting signa.ls for Gyfeillon Lower cabin, and we 603 yards' , 

from the former cabin.) ., . ~ ,  ., .~ ~ ;L ;. I . . . , , . . . F . ,  - 

*,, .* ,,,.: ,, ~j , . ., .. . . . . . . . . 



The down signals for Rhondda Cutting Junctioli cabin arc! as follows, viz. :- 
... Down inner home signals.. . 31 yards from centre of cabin. 

,, outer ,, ... ... 240 l, ,, 
,, distant ,, ... ... 603 ), 17 

The down outer home sienals for this box above mentioned arc those for No. 1 
down line and No. 2 relief r o z ,  and are situated on the left-hand side of No. 2 at the 
fouling point of the junction between the two lines. 

The outlet signal from No. 3 down relief road to No. 1 donm line is 7 1  yards 
nearer the cabin on the right-hand side of the road to which it refers, so is 169 yards 
from the cabin. 

Tyer's two-position single mire block telegraph instruments are in use on the Taff 
Vale' Railway. 

The folIowing are extracts from the Coinpang's Regulations applicable to double 
lines :- 

Instructions i n  the  Mode of Working the  Instruments. 
DESCRIPTION OR INSTRUBIENTS.-T~~ dial of the Instrument is divided into two parts, one 

part being for the Up Trains, the other part for the Down Trains ; each Instrument has two 
Indicators, one black, the other red. The Black Indicator shomrs the last Signal received at 
the Station ; the Red indicator the last. Signal sent from the Station. Each Signal Station is 
furnished with a Bell for each section. On sections where there are three  line^ of rails ihe dials 
for the third line have only one Indicator, as the trains ruu in one direction only over the 
third line. 

THE THREE PLUNGER SYSTEM.-AS the Bell at the other end can be rung by either the 
Signalling Plungers or the Bell Plunger, all Bell Signals which are not intended to move the 
Indicator must be sent on the (lower) Bell Plunger ; bat all Bell Signals which are  intended to 
move the Indicator must be sent on to the Instrument Plnnger, that one being used to which the 
Indicator is not then pointing. 

Normal position of Block Indicators.-When the Block Instruments are not in use, 
the Line must be considered blocked, the Indicators having Eruo positions showing " TRAIN O N  
LINE " and " TRAIN &RRIVED." 
The bell signals in use and other block reg.ulations are those agreed to by the 

Companies parties to the Railway Clearing House. 
The normal position of the block indicators when the instruments are not in use is at  

" Train arrived." 
The following rule is referred to in the evidence :- 

55-(a) In  case of detention at a Home, Starting, or Advanced Starting Signal, the Engine- Drivhr t o  
driver must immediately sound his whistle, and, if still detained, the Gaard, Shunter, or Fireman ~~,"~~;$ 
must (except where instructions are given to the contrary, or where the Lock and Block System , b, 
of train signalling is in operation) go into the Signal-box and remind the Signalman of the position reminded 
of the train, and remain there until the Signalman can give permission for it  to go forward. In  Guard, 
foggy weather or during falling snow, the Guard, Shunter, or Fireman must, immediately npon Or 

Fireman of 
the train coming to a stand, proceed to the Signal-box. position of 

(c) The duty of going to the Signalman must be performed as under :- train. 
(ii) in the case of a goods train with only one guard :--When stopped at a Home Signal, 

by the Fireman. 
(d) The Guard in  charge of the train must satisfy himself that the man whose duty it is to do 

so has gone to the Signal-box ; and the Guard or Shunter, as the case may be, will be held 
responsible for seeing that the train or vehicles are properly secmed. 

Euidmce. 
AZbert Edwin Hutchings states : I have been That was the train which ran into the through 

i n  the service of the Taff Vale Company altogether mineral train. The passenger train was offered to 
for 19 years, nine years of that time as signalman. Rhondda Cutting at 9.43 and accepted at that 
I am district relief man for that district and have time. I sent "Train entering section " at 9.47 
relieved at Gyfeillon Lower box for about four but did not get "Train out of section " for 
years. I came on duty at 9 o'clock on Monday the passenger train. I t  passed my cabin at 9.48. 
morning923i-d January, having finished my pre- I had an up through mineral at 9.42 on the 
vious t w n  at 6 a.m. Sunday morning, and No. 2 up relief road, but was not particularly 
been off duty 27 honrs. The first train I had on busy about this time. The box is a 10-hour box. 
the down line was a through mineral: That was I could have seen the tail of the mineral train 
offered me by the box in the rear-Gyfeillon from the box had I looked, but not by a casual 
Upper-at 9.23 a.m. I accepted it at 9.23, re- glance. There were some goods trucks standing 
ceived "Train entering section" 9.27, and gave in the yard sidings at the stop block which pre- 
'<Train out of section," 9.32. I offered that train vented my seeing the train easily. They were 
to Rhondda Cutting at 9.23 a.m. on No. 1 down standing near the dead end. There is a good view 
line, audit  was accepted at 9.23, and I sent L'Train of the advance signals, and the rear of the train 
entering section" at 9.31 and received L'Tr,Jn out was about 40 yards ahead of them. The advance 
of section" at 9.36. The next train had picksd np signals are about 390 yards in advance of the box. 
a t  the sidings and was offered to Rhondda. Uubtirl The line carves about the signals. 1 am quite 
at  9.29 a.m. and accepted at 9.29. 11, en i e rd  certain I sent, the block signala for the mineral 
section at 9.29 and was signalled :on: G? 6:xiii in train on No. l line npon the block telrgr+h . 

. ins(rument. X.cnte~.erl the sigual~ .i.n thc ir:ii;$ a t  9.39. That was on N3. 3 :-i~,.t?. . ,.Fi!r; ..v.. - . . 
j 0 N o  1 j j :  , . . as I l'dce; ~d S ) I C ~  3 ~ 4  - r : x  Riv,ii: :.l,: 

P> ,* 
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9.23 a.m. at that time and the 9.31 and 9.36 at t.l~ose 
times afterwards. There were in the box with me 
at the time the reliefman whom I had relieved, and 
a groundman. The reliefman (that is Dipper) 
remained on duty and'assisted in the cabin, but I 
booked the times myself. The other man (ground- 
man W. Marchant) comes to assist trains piclring 
UIJ and putting off as the case may be, and he stays 
in the box until the trains come. He has nothing to 
do with the signalling. I saw the passenger train 
go into the other train but. too late to prevent, it. 
The first warning I had of what was about to 
happen was, vhen the passenger train was passing 
my box the Rhondda Cutting signalman gave the 
blocking back sign1 (3-3). That was at 9.48 a.m. 
and just as I vas  in the act of putting the train on 
line. I was powerless to do anything. I had no 
time to throw my advance signals to "danger." 
and Rhondda Cutting had called me and asked me 
what I had on No. 1 road, and the train had on!y 
some 400 yards to run. 1 made the attempt but 
saw T wsg too late and I could do nothing. I did 
not get them back until after the collision. I had 
no conversation with the man at Rhondda Cutting 
-cabin. I did not record the blocking back signal 
CJ-3) in  my register book. I was too much upset. 

By Mr. J. H. Thonzccs, M.P. : I made the whole 
of the entries in the register book prior to the 
accident. When I received the blocking back 
signal there was possibly time for me to have 
reversed the sienals had 1 realised at once that 
there was somerhing serious, but I thought he had 
made a mistake, and I received a shock on nettinn 
&he 3-3 signal. 

(Recalled) states : When I offered the passeuger 
train at 9.43 the block instrument showed "Line 
clear" and the indicator pointed to "Train 
arrived." I did not send the "Entering sec- 
tion" signal for the passenger train. I was on 
the point of doing so when[ had the L' blocking 
-backw signal. When I got the blocking back 
signal I looked at the book to see if there was 
a train in the section because he tapped me on 
the telephone to tell me he had a train on No. 1 
road. I aaid "What have Syd got on No. 1 now, 
then," or words to that effect. The passenger 
train passed me and %hen I hacl to %m round and 
look at the crash. After I said~" What haveSyd 
got on No. l, then," I went to put the signals 
back then. 'I know that these advance signals 
are 383 yards ahead of my cabin. ' I had to put 
the distant ba.ck, then takeNos. 11 and 12, that 
is the starter and advance starter. The signals 
would have to be pushed back.-the distantand 
advance starter especially. I am certain I got two 
distinct signals for the Barry train on No. 3 and 
for the mineral train on No. 1 down line. I made 
the entries directly I had the signals. I did not 
anter or makc a note about the "blocking back " 
signal. I' collapsed and asked for a man to take 
over. 

Phillig Jumes *per states : I have been in 
the service of the Tatf Vale Company two years 
:and six months, and relief signalman 10 months. 
30s the first six months I mas groundman, and I 
have had 10 months in  the box. I came on duty 
at 1.30 a.m., Monday morning, and worked until 
relieved by Hutchings at 9 o'clock, when I had 
seen on duty 73 honrs, and would have remained 
a n  as assistant signalman till 11.30 a.m. I 
informed Hutchings how matters stood as regards 
the trains ancl sat down to k w e  somz food. Some 
time afterwards-about 9.20-1 heard "Line clear" 
fur a mineral down No. 1. I was not nrit.ine 
particularly what wasgoing on, hut I remetnbe? t h i  
coal tmin going. by. I ?emember F1v.tchin.q~ IIO;II~ 

asked " Line clear" from Ggfeillon Upper-the 
box in t,he rear. He accepted it and asked on to 
Rhondda Cutting. I do not remember anyihi~rg 
else and could not say. I do not remembe~ 
whether he gave the " Call attention." He gave 
the J-l-the mineral cotla--and that, was repeated 
from Rhondda Cutting. I am sure of that. I did 
not notice the time, but I should say jnst after 
9.20. I saw 9.23 in the book afterwards. He had 
4-1 from Upper and then "Train approaching," 
then he asked on to Rhondda Cutting. I do not 
remember if he gave the " Train entering section I' 
npr did I hear the bells forthe " Ootof section" sig- 
nal. All that. 1 am certain of is that he offered it 
to Rhondda Cuttingand that the Rhondda Cutting 
man accepted it. I did not notice the block 
instrument at al1. I remember the signals for 
the passenger train. Ile was asked " Line  clear ?' 

from Upper and passed it ' on directly to 
Rhondda Cutting. I t  was accepted from Rhondda 
Cutting at once. Then he pulled off his signals. 
I noticed him putting the signals at L'clsnger" 
behind the coal train. He gaPe " Train entering 
section " for the passenger train. Just as he gave 
it he shouted to me "He has blocked the roail " 
and slammed the signals back. I did not hear the 
bells for the " blockine back." This was iust as 
the pavsenger t.rain W& passing the box: The 
engine was opposite the box. He said ' l  He has 
blocked the road." He threw the signals baclc- 
the clown signals, everything he could get hold of. 
He threw them back, but was too late. I know 
the distance hom the box to the advance starting 
signals is about 400 yards. The passengertrain 
was going past the box at a5out 30 miles per hour. 
I t  wonld not take half a minute for a train t,o go 
to the advance starter going 30 miles an hour. It 
wonld take a man about six seconds to pat hack 
six levers. Of course he had to cross from his 
desk when he received the "blocking back " and 
then put the signals at " danger." I t  took him some 
time to recover himself. When he shouted to me 
I made an effort to get the red flag but I was 
excited. Hutchings went to the telephone hnt he 
asked me to answer the telephone as he could not. 
R e  collapsed. He fell down as if in a faint, 
directly the collision occurred. Re was quite 
incapable of doing anything. The gromldman 
Inarchant was in the box also at the time. 

By MT. I3urlmid: I am quite certain that what I 
am referring to as having passed at 9.20 or 9.23 --as 
No. 121 domn the No. 1 down line from the tone 
of the bell. . Hutchings received "Is line d e a r  " 
from Gyfeillon Upper and answered it. T'he llext 
signal he received was ' l  Train approaching." I 
cannot remember the interval between tire two 
signald. Usually there i s  abont t h e e  to four 
minutes. I did notnotice if he asked "Is  line 
clear " when he received " Is line clear " from 
QyEeillon Upper. I think "Line clear" was asked 
first, " Train approaching" was given in three or 
four minutes, and then it WRS that "Is  line clear 1' 
was asked of Rhondda Cutting Junction. At this 
time I was sitting down and Hutchings was doing 
the whole work, including booking, telephone; 
and levers. I did not hear vhether anything 
passed on the telephone between Hntchings and 
the man at Rhondda Outting Junction. ' .  :. 

By Hr. Parfitt : with regard to the call to the 
telephone, Eutchings was called to the telephone 
after he had put hi- signals to danger, 80 that 
going to the telephone would not have interfered 
-with his getting his s ~ p a l s  to " danger. " 

By Hr. Thomas, M.P.: I renlember $he BB.J:Y~ 
train down No. 3. I a m  quite silre when I ;iay 
I heard "Line clear" beis$ ddkerl for,: il. WIP L??. 

. . 



the train on No. l and not hhat on No. 3. When 
the "blocking back" signal was given, Hutchings 
ran to the signais and not to his hook. After 
the collision occurred he looked at his hook 
and said " Rood God ! There is a mineral on 
No. l." He did not say that without reference 
to his book. I was having food and all I 
remember is that " Is  line clear" was asked for 
a mineral train down No. l. I do not remember 
"Train out oi section" bei3g given on the bell 
for the train on No. 1. The only thing I 
remember about the " blocking back " signal is 
that Hutchings said "He has blocked the road." 
I d id  not hear the bell. He went to the distant 
signal lever first. I remember he was at his 
book and shouted something to me, but not 
whether it  was before ; I think it  was after the 
collision occurred. I was excited. He may and 
he  may not have looked at his book first before 
going to the levers. He came to the telephone, 
hilt T do not, know whether he looked at his book. ~~~ - ~-. -~ ~ 

I cannot mmember if the groundman was talk- 
ing to Hutchines about the work at this moment 
or-just before. 

W. V.. Mucll.c7~unt states : I have been in the 
mervice of the Company five years and three 
months, and am groundman at Gyfeillon Lower. 
My duties we taking stock of all traffic going out 
drom the collieries and checking the waggons. I 
came on duty on Monday (23rd) at S a.?. I 
.work a 10-hours turn and went oE duty on the 
Saturday previous at 11.30 p.m. I gotto Gyfeillon 
Lower signal-box at 9.30 or 9.32 a.m. There 
ware in the box relief signalman James Dipper 
a n d  signalman Hutchings. I booked tha traffic, 
.9S engine cleared - the train going to Barry - 
which was from Gyfeillon Colliery. I t  was on 
No. 3 relief road. I remember 3-1 given from 
Rhondda Cutting accepting the passenger train. 
H e  did not give the "Entering section" signal 
for that train. I heard the bells 3-3 giving 
Hutchings the "blocking back ". signal. I did 
:not notice the time particularly. When 
Hutchings got the " blocking back " signal he 

.said "Good God! What is down No. l ? "  He 
gave a t,ap on the No. 2 instrument for the 
.No. 2 down line t,o get the attention of Rhondda 
Cutting on the telephone. He went to the receiver 
.but did not answer him. His nerve failed him. 
.He went to the locker and sat down. I did not see 
!him go to the signal levers. I did not notice 
anyone put the signals back to " danger." I am 
n6t prepared to say Hutchings did not. I 
:think directly he got the "blocking back" 
tsignal he first gave a tap on the No. 2 and t,hen 
-went to the receiver. I do not remember his 
itouching the signal levers, He  went to the 
train book mhen he went to put the train on 
,line just at the time he got the L' blocking back " 
.signal. 'When he got  the signal he said <'Good 
God ! What is on No. l ?  " and dropped his 
 pen. He was not writing at the book, but 
:standing at the desk looking at the book. He 
sa id  "Good God ! What is on No. 1 ? " and then 
.collapsed. 
. . 

By Mr. Hffirlund: The "blocking back" signal 
-was given when the passenger train had just 
passed the box. The signalman was going to 
give l' Train entering section " but did not do it ; 
he collapsed. As he went to give i t  he had the 
" hlocking back " signal and the moment before 
he was at his book. From the time when he 
realised, that there was something on Xo. 1 and 
made the examination he collapsed. I did not 

:see him go to the book to examine i: m comlplete 
a n y  entries. He remainud sittiqz dr:~j: ou the 
hox. The sk~timmaster c:!~m i,o :,;L? ,.??:;:I ?2 ,>? 

15 minat,es after the collision. Hutchings maa 
sitting there in a state of collapse until ihe 
stationmaster arrived. I was in the box all the 
t,ime, I did not see him make any ent.ries. He 
said "You saw I had 'Line clear.' " 

By Xr. J. H. TJloiizas, M.P.: I was sitting 
t.hree yards from the bell instrument, so that I 
could hear the bell from where I was sitting. I 
do not remember hearing the "Train out, of 
section" (2-1) at all, I an1 quite sure. The gnarcl 
of the Rarry train booked away at 0.30, and I 
dropped off the van and into the cabin. I aln 
cettainIwasthere by 9.32. ThetrainonNo.1clown 
line went before the Barry train. I mas on the 
ground at the time, not in the oabin. If t.he 
"'Train out of section " signal had been given on 
the bell I might not have heard it. The bells 
did not concern me. I t  might have been given. 

Siclney QuicJ: states : I have been in the service 
of the Taff Vale ,Railway Company 32 years and 
during the whole of that time I have been a 
signalman. I have been permanently engaged as 
signalman at Rhondda Cutting box six years next 
May. I came on duty on the 23rd inst. at S am.; 
and the box is a 10-honm post. I went off duty 
from my previous turn at 6 a.m. Sunday morliing 
and had 26 hours off duty. 3 -24  is t,he code for 
a Barry mineral and I got that at 9.32 for NO. 3 
down line. That was a train of Great Western 
traffic to Barry. The next train was a passenger 
train (3-1) and f o r  this I was asked "Is line 
clear" at 9.46 a.m. and I accepted it at 9.46 a.m. 
on No. 1 down line. I did not then know any; 
thing about the coal train. I wrote the ent,ries 
myself. The entries relating to the mineral train 
on No. 1 down line were made when I was 
advised of the mineral after the fireman came to 
the box at 9.50. Acting on the advice of Iuspector 
Tuck, I offered it forward, but seeing she could 
not go forward I cancelled the signal until lower 
down, viz., 9.52 am.  when it  was axepted at 9.52 
bnt did not start. The first I knew of thk 
mineral on No. 1 was at 9.50 when the fireman of 
the mineral train came to the box. He said, " We 
are right away to Roath line standing on No. l.'' 
I told him I was very much surprised to know he 
was there at all and went immediately to the 
block telegraph and blocked the line with six 
beats, given three,,pause, three. I had no signal 
for the mineral traln and had no knowled5:e of the 
mineral train being on. No. I . .  The train was 
never offered me and I never accepted it ; of that 
I am absolutely certain. I could have seenthe  
train from my cabin, but not exactly w h e ~ i ' I  did 
not know it was there and was attending'to other 
duties, but there was nothing to stop my seeing 
it. I t  pas  not out of sight. Inspector Tuck was 
in the box. He had been there about 12 minutes. 
He was not there at 9.31 or 9.36 when the other 
man says the signals were sent. The fireman 
had been in the box about one minute or two 
before the collision occurred. There is a variation 
as to firemen coming to the cabin t,o carry out 
Rule 55. Some come at once ; some yilit' two or 
three minutes or so. They generally wait i l l t he  
cabin until the train draws up and then get on .as 
it passes. That is if it  stopped at a home signal. 
If at a starting signal nre generally wait for the 
men to get back. 

By Mr. Hurlund : I do not recollect getting th! 
t i m ~  for the clock that morning. I had no reason 
I know of for giving the blocking back signal 
3-3 instead of the obshnction danger signal. I 
gave the first obstruction signal that cam6 into my 
raind. The one that I was cert,ain tbe man r.ort, 
t~ me won!< be =ore accpainted with. We ?re 



very rarely called upon to give (Q, obstruction 
danger; 3-3 is usually given on account of the 
regulations for protecting a train standing inside 
or outside a home signal. This train had been 
standing outside and I of conrse used the signal 
that the man would understand. If any reason, 
that would be the reason, that he would probably 

# nnderstand that easier by being used to receive it  
than six beats which he would not receive once 
iu 12 months. I did not bear any whistling from 
any engine. There was the Barry train at 9.32, 
away 9.36, and I did not notice the other train 
standing on the main line. I did not hear a 
whistle. I would not swear the driver did not 
whistle. The train was middling cloile but I did 
not hear whistles. There m,as no wind to carry 
away the sound, but I had no block signal for the 
train, heard no engine whist,le, and had no warn- 
ing whatever of the approach of this train until 
the fireman came to the cabin. 

By Mr. J. H. !t'homus, M.P. : Inspector Tuck 
was in my cabin 12 minutes prior to the accident. 
He came down the line from Coke Ovens. I 
cannot say whether Inspector Tuck himself 
happened to notice this tram on No. 1 down line. 
I do nc: think there is any exception for firemen 
not to come to carry ont Rule 55 if they know 
that a passenger train is closely following, and 
think they will get through. I do not think it  
influences them. As a general rule, almost with- 
out exception they all come. There are definite 
in~tructions that Rule 55 must be carried out. The 
Inspector was not interfering with me at all. 
Simply on a matter of his own private business. 
I t  is not correct that I was offered and accepted the 
"Is  line clear" signal (4-1) for the train on No. 1 
down line. 

(Recalled) : 1 can only repeat that I have no 
knowledge whatever of the train being in the 
section until the fireman came to  he cabin at 9.50- 
absolutely nothing. When I accepted the passenger 
train at 9.46, I looked at my block instrument. I t  
shewed "Down train arrived," showing line was 
clear. I do not consider there is the slightest possi- 
bility of his having sent me the signals and my 
noL having entered them in the book. 

By MT. Harlnnd; Accordmg to my book the 
Barry train went out of the yard at 9.36. I did 
not realise that there was a train standing on the 
No. l down line when I let the Barry train off 
No. 3 relief road. It very often occurs that there 
are two or three engines passing to wards Rhondda 
Cuttillg. That has nothing whatever to do with 
me. They are there under the orders of the yard 
foreman, bring down small parcels of traffic with 
a view of placing it  for future trains to take 
forward. So that the fact of a train-one or 
two-being on the yard facing me does not 
convey to me anything at all or any idea that 
their desire is to go forward. I gave the "Train 
out of section " for the Barry train off No. 3 road 
at 9.39. That is the only signal he received from 
me. I deny absolutely that I sent any such signal 
at  9.36. 

By Mr. J. H. T?~omcq M.P. : Supposing that I 
h d  forgotten that the train on No. l was put into 
the section, whilst in  conversation with Inspebtor 
Tuck, it  wonld be necessary for me to give "Train 
out of section" to the me3 at Gyfeillon Lower, 
if the train had been brought to my knowledge. 
The fact of the fireman coming to the box would 
oertainly have brought to my knowledge that 
there was a train there, hult it cnulcl nc.L have 
reminded me of a t h i ~ g  I never hxl. Dircctly 
the fireman r,au~z to tLr? :Joo~ he il?.:%o Q: hi;: 

t,rain being on No. 1, "NO. 121 on NO. 1 right 
away to Roath line." I was of course taken by 
snrprise, having no previous knowledge of this.. 
Whiist speaking these words the fireman was 
walking across the cabin towards the locker, and 
whilst passing me, in the same breaih I said "On 
No. 1, do you say ? I have no knowledge of you 
being on No. 1, I kave giveu 'Line clear' for 
passengers ! " I went to "block back," if 
possible to give the Gyfeillon Lower man time to 
stop the passengw train. After hearing t.he fire- 
man's statement, I say it is qnite possible that the. 
conversation may have taken place, but if it  did 
take place, which I have no recollection of it  was 
after the road had been blocked back, and I had 
gone to the telephone. Within two minutes 
all this had been done and the train had been 
signalled forward to Pontypridd at 9.52. All 
this was done within two minutes of the time he. 
first entered the doorway, so that there could 
not have been a moment of time wasted, and it is 
incorrect to say that he was there two minutes 
without any active operation. I had no conversa-. 
tion with the fireman afterwards. 

I%spe.-tor Tuck states : I am district mineral 
train impector for the RhonddaValleys. I was in  
the Rhondda Cutting signal-box on the morning 
of the 23rd. I could not say the time I got there, 
bnt somewhere about 9.30 or 9.35. 1 came down 
from Coke Ovens, and there was no train on NO. 1 
down line when I came down. I am positive I 
did not see one standing at Rhondda Cutting cabin 
outer home signals when I passed. I walked 
down the middle of the line. There is a fair  
space between the roads, and I passed at the right 
hand of the dead end and nearer the up line than 
the down. I went straight to the signal-box. 
Quick was in the box. I had business as regards 
delays and was making investigations in the train 
register book, and I did not note the belling at 
all. I coukl not say whether certain trains were 
offered to Quick or not, but there was a train 
passed out from the relief road during the time I 
was there, the flarry train at 9.36. I had not been 
theremorethan five minute8 or so then. There was 
ni, train standing on No. 1 down line there when 
I passed. After the Barry train I do not remember 
any other bells. There was some belling, but I 
did not note it  and there were up trains about. 
The fireman of the mineral train which the pas- 
senger train ran into, came to the box, but I did 
not notice xhe time. It would probably be about 
9.45. I was in the signal-box when the collision 
happened. I could not say how long the fireman 
-was in the cabin before the collision occurred, 
The driver of the train tried to pull the train away 
after the collision occurred. The fireman was at 
the box whilst I was there about 10 minutes. I 
could not say nhat  time the collision occurred, 
We did not hear it. The fireman told Quick '<We 
are on No. 1. You let the Barry train out in front 
of us. We are right away on No. 1 to Roath." 
The signalman replied "I  have no record of you 
at all," and went to the telephone toget Gyfeillon 
Lower concerning the train and to stop the passen- 
ger train. I did not notice whether the signalman 
sent any bell signal. I should have noticed 
whistling if there had been any. The signalman 
had the book two or three times. I did not stand 
i n  his way. I looked over the book between 
times and that accounts for my not notlng the 
bells. I did not hear any whistlinb at all. I 
could not sey they did not whistle, but if they did 
I should most certainly have heard them. 

By 1%. J. H. Thomas,db.P. : When the Eremm 
chme to the box I ! ~ c a ~ d  what he said ic Q u i c k  
l, clid :lot realise f w  a' f e 7  rnrmei~ie v l i i l k  37.1 



happened. Quick [lid say "Good. God ! I have given 
'Line clear' for passengers," but the first remark 
was that he knew nothing about the train. I have 
not formedan opinion who is to blame. I am at 
a loss to lrnow how it occurred. I am at a loss to 
know who is responsible, whether the signalman 
at the top end or this end. I saw no train coming 
down tolvards the signal. I should think I was 
at the cabin about 10 minutes before the fireman, 
hat I did not uote the time. I did not see any 
train there, bnt it might have been travelling 
down behind. I do not think that I interfered 
with the conduct of the work-or the fact that I 
was there acconnt.ed for Quick not having made 
thi? entry. I do not think that my presence 
interfered with his work in the least. I did not 
keep him from working. Whenever he required 
the book he had it. I always stand on one side when 
the signalman wants the book to make an entry. 
Yesterday morning when he was attending to the 
bells I was with the book. Whenever he wanted 
the book he had it. 

By Mr Pa~f i l t  : I had some conversation with 
the signalman. Apart from my own work of 
examining the book we were speakingahont some 
Great Western train-some Great Western empties 
smt  up last week. Quick had been reported to 
the General Office concerning them and he had to 
make out a report. Heclrew my attention to that. 
I could not say how long that conversation wonld 
last. I t  was between his work. I t  might h a w  
taken his attention from what was going on, but 
it  was a voluntary statement. 

By Mr. HarTand : I did not notice the time at 
which the fireman came to the box, but the 
observation he made to the signalman was "We 
are on No. 1. You let that Barry train out in 
front of us." The Barry train had passed out and 
it  appears they were there when that Barrg. train 
passed out. I should take it  so by the remark. 
.Quick made the remark" What, you on No. 1 ! I 
have got no communication of you whatever. 
I did not know you were there." I am not quite 
sure if he went to the telephone to get Gyfeillon 
Lower. It is true he made the remark "Good 
'God ! I have given 'Line clear' for the 
passengers." I think those were the very words. 
It was not more than two or three minutes after 
the fireman came into the box that he made use 
of these words, when he realised that there was 
a train on No. 1. The fireman said at once "We 
are on No. 1. You let the Barry train out in front 
-of us." The signalman then said On NO. 1 ! I 
have no commnnication of you whatever." I 
think Quick went to the telephone to get Gyfeillon 
Lower, and it was after t h a t h e  failed to get 
-them-he left the telephone in a very short time. 
" Good God ! " he said, " I have given 'Line clear' 
for  passengers." He then " blocked back." He 
attempted to telephone first, then failing to get 
them hurried to the block instrument. I asked 
h im during the excitement if he could not let 
that No. 1 train come down. I am quite sure he 
went to the telephone first before going to the 
block instrument. 

A. Dauison states : I have been in the Com- 
yany's service 29 years, as driver 14 years. I 
came ou duty on the 23rd January at 5.45 a.m. at 
Cathays and left duty previonsly early on 
Sunday morning. I was off duty over 24 hours. 
I started with a coal train from Hafod Colliery, 
proceeded to Woodfielcl, and left there at about 
9.23. I had 45 waggons in  my train. The 
signals on approaching Gyfeillon were all "off." 
I was on No. 2 down line and went through 
the  cross-over at Gyfeillon Upper on to the 

NO. l down line, and proceeded as far as the 
outer home eignals at Rhondda Cataing, where 
I arrived at 9.31 a.m. I whi~tled for the signal 
the second time, and saw another train comins 
from another road and the signal given to that 
train. I told my fireman to go down to the 
box. I came to a stand at 9.34 a.m. The 
Barry train went ont, as soon as my train 
came to a stand, and I sent my fireman to the 
box about five minutes aitervards. My fireman 
went to the box as soon as he coulcl. I mhistlecl 
before my fireman went to the box. I whistled 
twice when approaching there and next when 
near the outer home signal. I felt the shock of 
the collision a little. I did not actually see the 
passenger train coming. My engine was a six- 
wheels-coupled with radial trailer, which was 
running bunker first. I generally send my fire- 
man forward a few minutes after I get to the 
home signal. I do not know the exact time of 
the collision, but I think it was abont 9.50. 

By Mr. Rarland: I whistled first when com- 
ing round the bend cont.inuously, and whiwtled 
again at the home signal. I send my fireman 
to the box when my train might be standing 
alongside of a box, but when my train stands 
a distance away I wait a minute or two. The 
fireman was on the engine for two or three 
minutes attending to the lubrication, and I 
remained on the footplate. I t  was llecessary to 
do the work at the time as it was a suitable 
time to put oil into the lubricators. 

By Mr. J. H. Tho~nas, M.P. : I knew the 
passenger train was dne and assumed the signal 
wonld soon drop. When the fireman returned, 
he asked ' l  Can't you shift them ? " and as far 
as I can remember I said, " I  have tried, but 
failed ; something being the matter-something 
has joined us." 

(Recalled) : The fireman has always taken 
the duty of attending to the lubricators as 
they are on his side of the engine. Knowing 
that I was on the main line I could have done 
it, but he happened to he on that side. It was 
owing to the train going off No. 3 that he stopped 
to do it. The road was occupied and he finished 
the job he was doing before going to the cabin. 

By Z r .  Cameron: It is the driver's duty, but 
there is no rule against the fireman being made 
use of when he can do it. 

By Mr. J. H. Thomas, M.P.: I t  has always been - customary for the fireman to do the lubricators 
on the Taff Vale Railway. I t  couldnot have been 
filled coming down, it  had run out. I t  had been 
filled in the shed in the morning and it  had 
worked out. The engine groaned coming down, 
so that as we were stopped we hadan opportunity 
of putting it  in. I knew that there was a 
passenger train coming, and I was expecting 
every moment to get the signal. When the Barry 
train came out of N a  3, of course I let the 
fireman do what he was doing. The train coming 
out of No. 3 prevented the fireman crossing 
immediately. It would take the train three 
minutes to pull clear. I was stopped dead before 
the Barry train was aignalled. I was very 
anxious (about the lubricator) on the road, and 
as we could not get the slgnal he stopped to finish 
the lubricating. The Barry train cleared before 
he gave up, but we did not get the r(~ad. I t  is 
the practice wbenever necessary, and we are 
stopped at signals for such jobs to be done. 
When the fireman left the engine I did not know 
anything about his being delayed going to the 



box. I was looking at the lnbricator and 
regulating it. With, regard to Kale 55, 1 always 
exideavonr to carry it out immediatel~ I t.hiuk it, 
necessary to do so, aud did so 011 this occasion. 
The gnard did not come to the engine at all. 

Statement by Mr. Gumeron: With regard to 
lubrication many drivers themselves do the 
lubrication, but some depute their f i ream. We 
have no objection to the fireman lubricating, but 
it  is generally accepted as the driver's duty. 
Drivers are responsible in any case, of course. 

Goorye Lewzs states : I have been in the service 
of the Taff Vale Company S& years, seven years as 
fireman. I worked the same hours as driver 
Davison. I was working with him on Sunday 
morning and we went off duty together. We had 
picked up at Woodfield Colliery and started from 
Hafod to Barry with the signal crossing us at 
Gyfeillon Upper from No.2 to No, l down line. We 
had the distant for Gyfeillon Lower, but the distant 
at Rhondda Cutting was against us ; we whistled 
for the outer home signal and asit remained on we 
cnme to a stand. There was a man working on 
No. 3 and just as we stopped he had the signal 
and came out from No. 3 to No. 1. That was the 
Barry train. Our engine was not taking lubrica- 
tion. I said to m-? chver "Iwillfil! the lubricator." 
which I did. 1; woulcl be about 12 or 13 minutes 
before I pot to the box. I did not notice the time 

not cross over for an up train. I tookfour or five 
minntes to walk down. When 1 arrived at the 
box Quick was in conversation with Inspector 
Tuck. I said "We are right away to Roath line." 
He did not seem to take any heed for a moment 
but. came to me in about two minutes and said 
"What road did you say you were on? " I said, 
" Right away to Roath on line No. 1." He said, 
"Wliat road do you say you are on ? "  I said, 
"Wo.1." " I did not know you were there." he said. 
He made a rush to the telephone holloaiag, "Albert, 
Alhert, Albert." I heard no reply from "Albert." 
Inspector Tuck said L'You had better get the road 
for them, man, quick as you can or you will stop 
passengers." The signalman askedPontypridd for 
the road for ns to go. I did not see him send any 
other signal. 
. . ~ ,  

' ~ y  M?. ~ & l u n r l :  ~ f t e r '  leaving the engipe I 
stopped for the up t,rain, and when that was passed 
I crossed to the u p  side. I t  may have taken l+ 
miuutes t.o pass. , I took perhaps four minutes to- 
get to tbe cabin after that. Inspector Tnck and 
Quick were talking about some person. I said, 
"Right avay toRoath line." They did not take 
heed. I sat on. the mindowledge by the fire fully 
twominutes, then Quick askedme what road I said. 
I replied, and he said ' l  I did not know you were 
there." Re rushed to t.he telephone to call Albert 
( I  don't know who Albert is). Inspector Tuck 
said, " Get rid of him or you willstop passengers." 
I alntays go on my own to the cabin and do not wait 
for instructions. Sdmetimes there is something 
f o ~  us to do-a job on the engine, bnt I almays go 
to the box. I go immediately the train stops as 
a rule. 

By Mr. J. H. TTiinus, M Y . .  Sometimes it is 
necessary to do things to the engine when we 
come to a stop. For instance if the driver has 
steam on, the lubricator xvill not take. 1 knew 
rhere was a passenger train due at Pontypridd about 
10 o'clock. Knowing this I assumed that we 
would not be kept waitina long, but thought we 

would have the road, so I was not in a hurry to 
get to the cabin. I thought we should follow on 
behind the Darry train. When I qot to the box I 
walked in and said "Right away, Syd, to Roath 
on No. l." He said "What road?" I replied 
.'No. 1." He rushed to the telephone and said, 
"Albert, Albert." I donot know what conversation 
t.ook place between Inspector Tuck and Quick. 
A11 I could hear Tuck say was, " Hurry up and 
get this man out of the way. Hurry up and get 
him through Pontypridd or else you will stop 
them (passengers)." I did not hear Tuck sap 
<'Had you forgot it ?" 

By Mr. Puiqfitt: When that conversation took 
place, Tuck was standing away from the books 
altogether. The signalman had a pen in his hand. 
They were talking about some person as regards 
the nrork. I could not say who. They were not 
examining the book together. Tuck was like if h e  
was intending to go out of the box. 

A. Sellars states :-l have been in the Com- 
pany's service 10 years, all the time a driver. I 
signed on duty on the Zdrd January at 5.35 at 
Cathays. Signed on for ll+ hours. Was off 
duty previously Saturday night. I was not on 
duty on Sunday 22nd. We picked up onr train 
at Treherbert and Porth. The engine was a six- 
wheels-coupled, traiiing radial, running chimney 
first. There were automatic brakes on the six 
coupled wheels and hand and steam brakes also. 
Steam brake for shunting purposes and vacuum 
for Tassengers. Last stop was Hafod Station. 
Left Hafod about 9.48 or 9.47 a.m., as I after- 
wards found my watch was about a minute fast. 
The brakes were in good order. We were two. 
minutes late. The signals approaching Gyfeillon 
Upper were all clear and Gyfeillon Lower all 
clear. The distant signal for Rhondda Cutting 
was on. I t  was on all the time. I was in the 
act of reducing speed as usual before I could see, 
definitely whether the distant signal was " off " 
or " on." I opened the x41istle to warn, and then 
I observed this train was on No. 1 idfront, hut I 
was in the act of applying the brake to stop at the. 
home signal. I was just in the act. The brakes 
would be rubbing the wheels, then I applied the. 
brake fully. I drive on the left side of the 
engine. The distant was on, top arm off. About at  
the motor shed, I could flee distinctly that the 
distant, signnl was on. My eyes were. on the 
signals. The fireman first saxr the othe: train 
when we were close to it, about 18 or 20' 
yards away. We both' saw the train before 
this, but owing to the curve were not sure 
whether it  was on No. l, 2 or 3 road. I just had 
time to put on the brakes. They had no appreciable. 
effeot on the train. ' The rails were very greasy. 
I had no steam on. I was running about 27 to 30, 
miles per hour. After the accident I went back 
to the second carriage, m d  one of the poor fellows 
had his head out of the window, and he spoke t@ 
me. He said "Get me out of this as soon as.. 
possible." I went to the engine an6 got the- 
pinch-bar (crow-bar), and tried to burst open the. 
side of the carriage, but I saw it was hopeless. 
with him, because the beam of the van was rest- 
ing on his head, gradually ~ett,ling down. i had 
the crow-bar there within a minute of the- 
collision, as soon as the dust had settled down.. 
Supposing we had carried tools-saws, axes, &C.- 
we could not have rescued that man. I t  was all 
over in a minute or two. He was i n t h e  act of 
dying. His face was changing colour when he 
spoke to me. I t  was too late to do anything- 
for him. We could not have done any good in 
time. Nothing but a steam crane could have. .. 
moved what was on top of him. 



J o h n  Jo~oncs states : I have beenin the Company's 
service 13 vears and a fireman 10 vears. I worked 
the same hours as my driver, ancl vaii working 
with him on Sat,urday the same hours. The last 
stop before the collision was TrehaCod. The 
signals were off until we came to the distants for 
Rhondda Cutting box. Those were on. We 
slackened apeed at the usual place just above 
Gyfeillon Lower box. I saw the distant against 
us and whistled. After we left Gyf+illon Lower 
we saw the train there. I t  is an hourly occur- 
rence to see a train on one of the roads. 1 saw 
the train was on our road about 40 yards away, 
and I shouted "Whoa up." The driver had his 
handonthebrakeand I yutsand down, hut,of course, 
we were into them. The brakes had no effect on 
the speed of the train. We were going ordinary 
speed, about 30 miles an hour. 

By Mr. Parfitt : I did not realise what was 
happening until too late. You cannot determine 
which line a train is on until close on it. The 
starting signal being off caused us to assume our 
road was right and that the train was on some 
other road. 

John White states : I have been in the service of 
the Compny 38 years, and have been a passenger 
guard since 1879, 32 years. I signed on at Cardiff 
on the 23rd January at 4.50, and was in charge 
of the down passenger train. I joined the train 
at Cardiff and went to Treherbert, working back 
with the 0.10 a.m. ex Treherbert. The first i,h~.ee 
vehicles attached at Porth came from the Ferndale 
branch, and the rest were with the train before. 
There were automatic vacuum brakes, and I saw 
that was all right before starting. There were 18 
inches of vacunm showing in the van. I did net 
test the brake before leaving Porth, and I did not 
see the connection made between the two portions 
of the train. I left that with the junior guard or 
brakesman. I was i u  t.he rear van. I did not test 
it through the train, but I saw my needle shewing. 
There were no brakes on the milk vans to my 
knowledge. They were put on at Treherbert. 
The last stop before the collision was Trehafod. 
I knew nothing about anything being wrong until 
1 heard the' brake going on hard all at once. 
About the same moment the crash came. I 
entered the time down after I came 60 myself. I 
have entered on my book 9.50, but I should think 
a minute had gone before I entered it. I then got 
outof the van, and seeing that the signals were put 
back and there was no need of my going back, I" 
went on to rander what assistance I could to those 
in the train. All the s~knals were up behind my 
train. 1 was knocked down and by the time I 
picked myself together a minute is sure to have 
gone. I have the time as 9.50. 

T. Godwin states : I am a brakesman. I have 
been 20 years in the service, and 34 years a 
brakesman. I came on duty at 5.50 a.m., Monday, 
23rd January, and worked a train to Treherbert, 
and  returned with the 9.10 ex Treherbert.. At 

Porth three other carriages were put on. I salv 
the connection made, and saw the pipescon~lected 
np properly to the brake-van. I did not notice 
how man>- inches of vacuum there were when we 
left Treherbert, bnt there were 20 inches when we 
left Porth. I did not notice the signals approach- 
ing Gyfeillon. 1 was busy in the v m  with 
parcels. When the collision came I was thrown 
down and knocked about. I cravled out t.hroug11 
the window. I was riding in the fourth vehicle. 
I did not notice the signals just behind. I did 
not notice any smell of gas. 

By Mr. Hurland: I saw the pressare in the 
automatic brake gauge after I joined the van. A 
signal is given by the foreman to the guard, and 
by him to me, an? I give it to the driver. The 
brakes were all coupled up, and we had no 
trouble to start,. 

Frank Lowe ~ta tes :  I am stationmaster at 
Trehafod Station. As soon as I heard of the 
collision I went straight to the scene of the 
accident. I t  might be 10 to 10.15 when I got 
down. I did not note the t ~ m e  exactly. I t  must 
have been an how or so afterwards that I got to 
the box. I went to give a little assistance at the 
train, but seeing there was plenty of assistance I 
went to the Coke Ovens traffic office. I did not 
go to the signal-box for about an hour after-about 
11 o'clock. 1 did not go into the cabin on the 
way down. I went to the scene to see what could 
be done. I did not see Hutchings until I came 
back. I asked him respecting the accident, who 
was responsible. He said "There is the book, 
Mr. Lowe, you can see for yourself. No. 121 
engine has been cleared back to me and I received 
"Line clear" for the passenger train." I exammed 
the book and 1 found there was a matter of about 
3 minutes bet,ween the trams. Hutchings was 
very excited. Hegave up volnntarily ; in fact he 
gave up his duty at once to the relief man who 
was in the cabm, and told him to take over as he 
could not go on any further. He told me the 
same thing, and I said, "You are relieved for the 
time being." He did no more. 

By Mr. HarZand: Hutchings made no other, 
statement to me than to refer me to his book. 
When I asked him "Who is responsible ? "  he said 
"It is not me," or words to that effect. ' "You 
will see the book. The previous train ~ has been 
cleared back to me and I received <'Line clear ? for 
the passenger train." I examined the book, and 5nd. 
the entries now as they, were then. They are all 
in Hutchings' handwritiug and not entered under 
excitement. I do not think he would have been 
able to enter anything afterwards. 

By Mr. J .  E. T h m a s ,  N.P.: "Train out of 
section" was entered as being given for the 
mineral train on No. 1 line at 9.36. That would 
be 5 minntea after it left Gyfeillon Lower cabin. 

The following statement- was made by Geor.qe Gould, goods guard, Cathays, a t  the: 
Cardz f  In$rmary, on February 14th, 1911 :- 

. . . . 
That he was 55 years of age and had been in by engineman Andrew Davison and firemanGeorge 

the employ of the Taff Vale Company 35 years, Lewis. On the down journey the train was made 
and had worked as a mineral and goods guard for up partly at Hafod and partly at Woodfield Col-. 
about 28 years. That on January 23rd last he lierieswith Lewis Merthyr coal for Cardif, 'and 
signed on duty at 5.45 a.m., to work the 6 a.m. train consisted of 46 waggons of coal and the brake-van. 
from Cathays to East Dock Junction, and the He could not remember the time at which the train 
6.20a.m.from East Dock JunctiontoHafod Colliery left Wooclfieid, but thought it  was 9.15a.m. or there- 
and back. This set of trains is known as C. 17. about. The train travelled from Woodfield on 
E e  had not done any duty for a period exceeding the down relief line and was turned on to the 
24 hours prior to signing on for this turn, he having down main line at Gyfeillon Upper, there being 
signed off at 4.25 a.m. on Sunday morning, 22nd a train working on the relief line at Gyfeillon 
January. The train was run by engine 121, worked Lower, and afterwards proceeded along the main 
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line as far as Rhondda Cutting Junciion at vhich passenger train which ran into his train, nor can 
place it was stopped by signals. H e  could not be in any way account for his esc.ape from the 
remember the time at which tl,e train arrived brake~van, as he mnst have lost consciousness 
at Rhondda Cutting Junction, but was able to through being injured about the head and having 
state that he did not go forward to the engine but his left arm fractured. H e  could not remember 
ranttined iu his brake van making out his liow long t.he train stood after being stopped by 
journal. Ne is also able ho remember t~hat he the signals before the collision occurred. 
had no warning whatever of the approach of the 

Conclusion. 

This collision took place on No. 1 down line (down main line) in the block section 
between Gyfeillon Lower and Rhondda Cutting Junction signal cabins, and was primarily 
due to irregular block working between the two cabins. 

In reviewing the evidence, it. must be borne in mind that the clock in Rhondda 
Cutting Junction cabin was three minutes faster than that in Gyfeillon Lower cabin. In 
order to simplify the report, I have in all cases deducted three minutes from the times 
recorded by the signalman in his train re ister book at Rhondda Cutting Junction, so as 

73 to bring them into accord with thC time y the clock in Gyfeillon Lower cabin, which I 
have taken as the standard. The clock in Pontypridd Junction cabin, the next to Ehondda 
Cutting Junction, was one minute slower than that in R.hondda Cutting Jnnction cabin. 
The difference in the clocks is accounted for by the fact that the signalmen get the correct 
time sent them daily at 10 a.m., and the collision occurred shortly before that hour. 

It must further be noted that the block telegraph instruments in use on the Taff Tale 
Railway are those known as Tyer's two position single vire Block Telegraph Instrunwnts, 
in which the indicators have only two positions, viz., l' Train arrived" and " Train on 
line " ; and the normaI position of the indicators, when the block instruments are not: 
in use, is at l '  Train arrived." A more detailed description of these instruments is 
given above. 

The signalmen concerned are : Albert Hutchings at Gyfeillon Lower, and Sidney 
Quick a t  Rhondda Cutting. Hutchiogs' statement is as foIIows :-He came on duty at  
9 a.m., having been o f  duty for 27 hours, relieving relief signalman P. J. Dipper.. After 
Dipper had explained ro him the position of affairs at the cabin, Hutchings took entire 
charge, and the first train that h e  dealt with on No. 1 down line was a through. 
mineral train. The entries in his train register book, which he is positive are all correct, 
are as follows :-He was offered the train from the cabin in rear, viz., Gyfeillon Upper, at  
9.23 a.m. He accepted it at 9.23, and received " Train entering section " at 9.27, and 
gave "Train out of section" at 9.33. Also he offered that train on No. 1 down line to 
Rhondda Cutting cabin at  9.23 am., that it was accepted at 99.3 a.m., that he sent 
the Train entering ~ect io~i  " signal for it at  .9.31 a.m., and received lLTrain out of - 
section " for it at 9.36 a.&. 

The next down train he dealt with was one formed up in the sidings a t  the ~ignal -  
cabin, and was a coal train going to the Barr 

d? 
He states that he offered this 

train to Rhondda Cutting cabin on No. 3 roa at 9.29, and it was accepted at 9.29 ; that 
he gave " Trainrentering section " for it at 9.29, and received " Train out of section " for 
it 9.39 a.m. 

The next down train was the passenger train from Treherbert on No. 1 down line. This 
passenger train was offered to Rhondda Cutting by Hutchings at 9.43 a.m. and accepted 
at once. Hutchings received the " Train entering section " signal for it at  9.47 from 
Gyfeillon Upper ; he did not send the Train entering section" signal for i t  to 
Rhondda Cutting, but just a,s he was about to do so he received the blocking back signal' 
on the instrument for No. 1 down line from the Rhondda Cutting cabin at 9.48 a m .  He 
states that he received this blocking back signal just as the passenger train was pas sing^ 
his cabin, and that he was powerless to do anything, and had no time to throw his starting 
or advance starting signals to danger ; he did not put any of the No. 1 down line signals 
to danger until after the collision had occurre&. 

, 
At the t.ime 31 the collision there were also in Gyfeillon Lower ca.bin, with Hutchings, 

a relief signalman (Dipper) and a groundman (W. H. Mabchant). Dipper states that 
when Hutchings relieved him, at 9 o'clock, he ' still remained on at  the cabin, to act as 
assistant to Hutchings, and would have remained until 11.30 am.,  to complete his 10 
hours' duty. After informing Hutchings how matters stood regarding the tra.ins, &sat '  
down to prepare his breakfast, and took no part in the work of the cabin. But he says he 
distinctly remembers that about 9.20 or so Hutchings asked l' Line clear" for a mineral 
train on .No. 1 down line, and that Hutchings received the bell signal accepting the train, 
from Rhondda Cutting. He says he is sure it was on No. l down line from the tone of 
the bell,which varies in the three block instruments. Dipper further states that he 

.. . . ., . 
, . 

~ - 



remembers the coal train passing the cabin on Ko. 1 down line, but. he does not remembel* 
Hutchings sending the Tmin entering section " signal for it to Rhondda Cutting 
Junction, or that the signalman there acknowledged that signal by repeating it. He did 
not notice the indicators of the block instruments at  all, and can remember no other bell 
signals regarding that tmin. He remembers '' Line clear " being asked for the passenger 
train, and that it was accepted by R h o ~ ~ d d a  Cutting immediately. He also states that 
Hutchings sent the l' Train entering section " signal for the passenger train, but in this 
he is mistaken, as Hutchings says he never sent it, and Dipper says that he did not hear 
the ' l  blocking back " signal which Hutchings received, so it would appear that Dipper 
was not giving very close attention to  vhat  was going on as regards the signalling, and I 
think his evidence must be received with caution. 

He states that just as the engine ofthe passenger train was passing the box Hutchings 
shouted out, "He has blocked the road," and then threw his signals back, but it was then 
too late to stop the train. Dipper states that he himself tried to get the red fla,g, but it 
was too late. He says that Hutchings went to the telephone, and then asked him to  go 
to it, as he was unable to do anything ; that Hut.chings then collapsed and sat down as in 
a faint, and asked him t o  take over charge of the signal cabin, which he did. On further 
examination, Dipper stated that, after going to put the signal levers to danger, Hutchings 
went to his train register book, and said, " Good God, there is a mineral on No. 1 ," and 
he thinks he went to the book before going to the telephone ; but he thinks it was after 
the collision had occurred. 

This witness says that he was very excited, and he was apparently unable to say for 
certain what really did occur when Hutchings received the " blocking back " signal.. 

The other man in the cabin at the time, viz., W. H. Marchantj states that he was 
checking the traffic in the sidings, and as soon as the Barry train had left he went to the 
Gyfeillon Lower cabin, arriving there at 9.30 or 9.32 a.m. He can give no information 
regarding the bell signals for either of the mineral trains, but he renrembers the passenger 
train being offered to Rhondda Cutting cabin, and accepted by it. He remembers 
Hutchings getting the blocking back signal, and that Hntchings said, ' l  Good God, what 
is down No. 1 ? " and that he then went to the telephone, but got no reply, after which 
he collapsed and sat down.. He does not remember Hutchings going to the levers to put 
the N a . 1  down line signals to danger. Marchant states that at the time Hutchings 
received the blocking back signal he was standing at  the desk on which the train register 
book was lying, with his pen in his hand, and that he said "Good God, what is on 
No. 1 ? " and dropped his pen, and then collapsed. He does not remember the " Out uf 
section" bell signal beingreceived by Hutchings for a train nrhile he was in the cabin. 

S. Quick, the signalman at  Rhondda Cutting Junction cabin, states that he came on 
auty at 8 o'clock, after 26 hours' rest, and that the first down train that he knew anything 
about from the Gyfeillon Lower cabin, after the passing of a passenger train a few 
minutes after 9 a . n ,  was the Barry mineral train on No. 3 down line. Allowingfor three 
minutes difference in the clocks, the entries in Quick's train register book show that he 
received l !  Is  line clear " for the Barry train at 9.29, that he accepted it at  9.29, and 
received l' Train entering section " for i t  at 9.29, all of which corresponds with the entries 
in Hutchings' book. Quick sent " Train out of section " for the B a q  train at  9.36 a.m. 
(deducting three minutes), and this train passed his cabin at 9.33 ; he got Train out of 
section " for it from Pontypridd Junction at 9.41 a m .  He is positive that h e  never 
received any bell signal at all for the mineral, train oh No. 1 down line, and there are no 
entries whatever in his train register regarding it, either as having been offered to him, 
accepted by him, or ' l  Train entering section " being given for it. He was offered the 
passenger train and accepted it at  9.43, which corresponds with the time in Hutchings' 
register book. He states that the first thing he knew about the mineral train on No. 1 
down line was when the fireman of it (G. Lewis) came into his cabin at 9.47 (deducting 
the three minutes). Quick states that Lewis said to him, "We are right away to ltoath 
line, standing on No. 1." Quick says that he replied that he was very much surprised to  
know he was there at all, and he went immediately to the block instrument and blocked 
the No. 1 down line by the blocking back signal, 3 pause 3. 

At the time the fireman came to the cabin a mineral train inspector, named H. Tuck, 
was in the cabin. He appears to have come to the cabin about 9.30 or 9.35, and so was 
not 'there at  the time Hutchings said he sent the block signals for the mineral train 
on No. 1 down line ; this train must haue. come down from Gyfeillon Lower after 
Tuck came. to the cabin. Tuck states that he is positive it was not at the home 
signal whenhe passed by that signal. He says he remembers the Barry train passing 
out from. No..3line, which was a few minutes after he came to the cabin. This was 
a t  9.36 a.m. Rhondda Cutting time or 9.33 a.m. Gyfeillon Lower time. He states 
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that when the fireman came to the cabin, the fireman said to Quick " We are on 
No. 1, you let the Barry traiu out in front of us. We are right away on No. 1 to 
Boath," and that Quick replied I have no record of you at all," and that Quick then 
went to the telephone to get Gyfeillon Lower to  stop the passenger train, and that. 
he did not notice if Quick sent any bell signal. Also that he did not notice any 
whistling wbile he was at the cabin. Subsequently, Tuck altered this statement to the 
effect that Quick, failing to get communication with the Gyfeillon Lower cabin, sent the 
'l blocking back " sigwal, and that two or three minutes elapsed after the fireman came to 
the cabin before doing so, but this period of two or three minntes must not be taken 
literally, but only as meaning a very short interval of time. 

Tuck's evidence was not given in a very, satisfactory manner, and he evidently Fas  
not very clear in his recollection of what happened. 

The evidence of G. Lewis, the firernan of the mineral train on No. 1 down l i e ,  is to 
the effect that after coming to a stand at  the outer home signal of Rhondda Cutting cabin 
he commenced to fill the lubricators, and he worked at  that for five or six minutes. He 
then took four or five minutes to walk down to the cabin, as he had to wait for an up 
mineral train to pass before he could cross the up line to the signal cabin. He states 
that when he got to the cabin the sipalmau (Qaick) was in conversation with inspector 
Tuck. Lewis states that he said at  once, 'L We are right away t o  Roath line," but that 
Quick did not seem to take heed for a moment, but came to him in about tmo minutes 
and said, ': What road did you say you mere on ? " Lemis replied, I said, right away 
to  Roath on line No. 1," and states that Quick then said, "I did not know you were 
there" ; that Quick then rushed to the telephone, shouting " Albert ! Albert ! ", and 
that inspector Tuck said, " You had better get the road for this man as quickly as you 
can, or you will stop the passenger train." Lewis does not know the time at  which his 
train came to a stand at  the outer home signal, nor the time he arrived a t  the cabin, but 
Quick noted it in his traiu register book that the fireman arrived at  9.50, which would 
be 9.47 according to the Gyfeillon Lower clock. 

Driver Davison, of the mineral train on No. 1 down line, states that the signals for 
No. 1, approaching Gyfeillon Lower, were off. for him, that he came to a stand at the 
No. 1 down line outer home signal for Rhondda Cutting cabin at  9.34 a.m., and that he 
whistled for the signal, both when approaching it and also as he came to a stahd. He 
then saw the Barry train come out from Eo. 3 road ahead of him. He states he sent h+ 
fireman to the cabin about five minutes afterwards. His reasons for not sendingthe 
fireman earlier will be dealt with later. 

The statement of driver A. Sellars, of the passenger train, is that thesignals were 
all clear approaching Gyfeillon Upper and Gyfeillon Lower cabins, but that the'distant 
signals for Rhondda Cutting were on;" He was watching these signals up to the time 
of passing them, and had already slightly applied the vacuum brake on approaching 
them ; he was just in the act of applying the brake more Glly, go as to stop at the home 
signal, when he sighted the van of the mineral train in front of him, and he was then 
about 18 or .20 yards from it. - He had seen a van 'standing on one line earlier, but 'he 
could not $ay on wh'ich line it was, owing to  the curve of the lines at  the place, and to 
$here beingso many roads. He had only just time to fully apply the brakes before the 
collision occurred, and they had no appreciable effect on the train as the rails were greasy. 
Be estimates the speed of the train at 27 or 30 ndes an hour. He had shut off steani 
some distance back, as, owing to the falling gradient, he had sufficient speed on to carry 
h i m  into Pontypridd Station. . . . . 

Sellars' statement is ectirely corroborated by his .fireman, 5. Jones. 
The guards of the passenger train knew nothing until the collision occurred. 
The guard of the mineral train on No. 1 down line was severely injured and was 

dnable to appear at the inquiry or inquest. 
I t  will be seen from the above prdcis of the evidence,, t h a t  the statements of 

Hutchiigs and Quick regarding the bell signals exchanged for the mineral train oli No. 1 
down line are absolutely contradictory. . .  . 

It is hard to understand how the mistake made by one or possibly bothof men 
arose. There was not much traffic passing, as besides the down trains referred to,:there 
were up trains passing between lihondda Cutting Junction and C+yfeillon Lower Signal 
Boxes at 9;22 a.m. on No. 1 up road, at  9.46 ob No. 2 up road, and at  9.51 on:No. 1 up 
road-the times given being those at which the train passed the former Signal Box 
i n  each case. 

The only evidence from another witness bearing on the matter is that of Dipper, 
v h o  states he remembers Hutchings offering the mineral. train on No. 1 down line to  



Qnick, and that Quick sent the reply accepting the train. Dipper says he is sure of tbe 
time becanse of the tone of the bell which varies in the difFerevt block instruments. 

Dipper was the onlp person in Hutchings' cabin, and there was no one with Quick 
at the time booked by gutchings, 9.23 a.m. Dipper hither states he does not remember 
Hutchings sending the " Entering section " signal for the mineral train on No. I down 
line, and that he did not hear that signal being aclmowledgecl by Quick, nor the 'L Out of 
section " signal being sent for the train. 

If Dipper is correct, I t,hink a probable solution of the mistake (though I do not say 
it is the true one) is that after Hutchings had offered Is line clear " signal for the 
mineral train, and had it accepted by Quick, at 9.23 a.m., on No. 1 r o d ,  he omitted to send 
the " Entering section" signal for it, and so of course Quick could not acknowledge that 
signal, and did not move the indicators of the block instruments to the " Train on line " 
position. Quick must have omitted to enter in his train register the times he received 
and acknowledged the " Is line clear " signal for the mineral train, if these signals were 
really transmitted. Six minutes later, at 9.29 a.m., Hutchings sent the I s  line clear " 
s ipnl  for the Barry train on No. 3 road ; Qaick acknowledged this at once, and the train 
proceeded, . . and Quick sent the " Out of section " signal for it at 9.36 (Gyfeillon Lower 
time). 

Hutchings must, I think, have taken this 'L Out of section " signal as applying to, 
the first train, viz., the mineral train on No. 1 down line, as he has entered that tmnle, 
viz., 9.36 a.m., in his register as received for the train on the No. 1 down line instead of 
for the train on No. 3 down relief road. 

Assuming the above explanation to be correct, Hutchings must have filled in the 
time he sent the ' l  Entering section " signal for t;hc mineral train on No. 1 down line, 
viz., 9.31 am., and of receiving the L' Out of section " signal for the Barry train, viz., 
9.39 a.m., because he thought he must hme sent and received them respectively. 

I think there is no doubt but that the entries were made before the collision occurred 
as Eutchings was too much npset by the occurrence to do so afterwards. 

When he accepted the passenger train from Gyfeillon Upper cabin at 9.43 am.  
Hutchings then sent the IS line clear " signal for it to Quick on the KO. 1 down line 
block instrument, and, as above explained, the indicator of the block instrument for this 
line at both cabins would be at the L' Train arrived " position (which is the normal 
position of the indicator) if the facts regarding the previous train were as I have assumed 
them t o  be. Quick at once accepted the passenger t,rain, so Hutchings lowered all his 
signds for it to pass into the block section ahead. 

Four minutes after Quick had accepted the passenger train Quick states the fireman 
of the mineral train, G. Lewis, came to his cabin (this would he 9.47 a.m. by the Gyfeillon 
Lower clock), and it would appear from the evidence that there was a little delay before 
Quick realized that there was a train standing at the No. 1 down line outer home signal, 
but i t  is certain that there was not two minutes delay as stated by Lewis and at first by 
Inspector Tuck, as Hutchings received the "blocking back " signal at 9.48 a.m., and as 
half minutes are not booked, it is probable that the delay did not exceed 30 seconds. 

Quick is asignalman of long experience, viz., 32 years, with an excellent record, and 
gave me the impression of being a very accurate and reliable man. The entries in his 
train. register regarding the Barr train correspond exactly with those in the cabins on 
either side of him, viz., Gyfeillon E ower and Pontypridd Junction, with the exception of 
the " Out of section" signal for that train in Hutchings' book, and which I think 
Hutchings entered in error in the column for the other train. 

' 

His surprise when Lewis told him about the mineral train at the outer home signal 
appears to h a ~ e  been genuine, as if he had accepted that train, Lewis' qpearauce 
would suddenly have reminded him of it, and in all probability he would have made 
quite a different ren~ark. 

He may have gone to the telephone first to get Gyfeillon Lower, as Tuck (at first) 
and Lewis both say he did, but Lewis did not  notice his sending the ( c  blocking 
back " signal, which of course he did send. 

i Quick's. explanation of why he did not notice tlie mineral train on No. 1 down line 
at the outer home signal when he lowered the signal for the Barry train is given in 
h i s  etidenee, but although engines shunt domn No. 3 road they do not come down 
either No. 1 or No. 2 down lines unless they have been accepted by the signalman a t  
Rhondda Cutting Junction cabin, so if Quick had looked towards the Barry train when 
he lowered t h e  outlet signal for it he shoald have seen this train on NO. 1 
dovn line. 

His explanation as to sending the "bloclring back" signal instead of the 
'l obstruction danger" signd is not very convincing, but evidently the " bloclring 
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back" signal was uuderstood by Hutchings to  mean that there was a train actually 
in the section ahead, as mill be seen by the state of miud he was thrown into when 
he received it. 

With regard to the mistake which led to the collision, I think it possible that Quick 
may have given ' l  Line clear" for the mineral train, and then forgotten having done so, 
though I doubt it, but I think it almost impossihle for him to have nclmowledged the 
L '  entering section " signal, and also to have given the " out of section " signal for a train 
which he evidently bad never seen and which had not passed his cabin. 

Hutchings has nine years' experience as a signalman and also has a very good 
record. He appears from the evidence of Dipper aud Marchant to have quite lost his 
head when he received the blocking back " signa.1, and though I do not wish to draw any 
conclusione from this, I think i t  is difficult to uuderstaud why he should have become so 
agitated as to be useless for his duties, before he could have kuown of the disastrous 
results of the collision, if there had been no irregularity in his working-even if 
he is of a very highly strung aud nervous nature. He appears to have received a great 
shock by receiving the 3-3 bell signal, and did not at once put his signals to danger, his 
reason being that he hadno time; but he appears to have been dazed and turned round to 
watch the collision. When Hutchings teceived the 3-3 signal the train was just passing 
his box, and there were two signals uuder his coutrol which co~ild have been put to 
danger against the train, viz., the starting signal 273 yards ahead, and the advai~ce starting 
signal 383 yards ahead of the cabin. 

Hutchings stated at the inquest that it would take him quite 30 seconds to put the 
three necessary signals, viz., the distant, starting, and advance starting to danger, but if 
he had' really grasped the situation, five or six seconds would have been sufficient, even if 
he had not already pat the distant signal to danger when the passenger train passed it, as 
he should have done if he had worked strictly to the Rule on the subject. The distant 
.signal is No. 1 lever in the frame, the starting signal No. 10, and the advance starting 
No. 11. The space between No. 1 and No. 11 levers being 3 ft. 4 ins. 

The passenger train even if running 35 miles an hour would take 1 6  seconds to run 
the 273 yards to the starting signal, and 22 seconds the 383 yards to the advance starting 
signal, or 26 seconds if running at  30 miles an hour, and if these signals had been thrown 
to danger against the train, the driver would certainly hare seen the advance starting 
signal go up as he was watching the distant signal which is underneath it, and he would 
have had time to reduce the speed very materially, and so lessen the effects of the 
collision, eren if he could not have stopped altogether. 

One can only regret that Hutchings failed to seize the opportunity given him, 
When the collision occurred the effects on the carriages of the passenger train were 

aggravated by the fact that the engine smashed up the van and three rear coal trucks of 
the mineral train, and was brought up very suddenly by running into a mass of coal, and 
so only went forward about 20 yards after the collision. The position and condition of 
the coaches of the passenger train have already been given above, and it should be noted 
$hat the great damage to the second and fifth coaches of the train was caused by the rear 
,ends of the comparatively light passenger brake-vansin front of them jumping up, so 
that their steel frames cut through the five leading compartments of the coaches behind 
them, at about seat level, and the bodies of the vans came down on the bodies of the 
carriages behind them. The third coach in the train was practically &damaged, as 
mere. all the other vehicles of the train. 

All the passenger coaches and brake-vans had frames composed of channel and angle 
steel, with the exception of the third coach, which was practically undamaged. ' This 
coach was 28 years old, and had channel steel soles, but wooden headstocks and wooden 
mid-framing. The weights of all these vehicles are given above, and it will be seen that 
$his third vehicle was a light one, weighing 14 t m s  16  cwt. 

With such a sudden stopas the passenger train made after the collision, it seems to  
me that some vehicles of the train must be severely damaged. But I understand that 
consideration is being given by Railway Companies to the question how, if possible, the 
serious telescoping of one carriage into another, owing to the frames sliding over each 
other, may be avoided. 

It was stated in the medical evidence at the inquest that all those idled were either 
killed on the spot or so injured about the head as to be insensible, and I was only able to 
kind one case in which a passenger who was killed 'was able to ask for help. This is 
described in driver Sellar's evidence, aud it is clear that no tools or appliances that could 
be carried in a traiu could have saved him, although there was abundant help available. 
I am iuformed bv the Comuanv that it is their ~ractice to eauiv every van, uasseneer as 
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well as mineral, k t h  a five ton screw-jack, and a five feet crow-bar. 
" 



The illuminant used in the carriages was incandescent oil gas. The lamps were not 
lit. No escape of gas n w  noticed, hut the pressure in the cylinders was low, about two 
atmospheres (the maximnm pressure in the reservoirs being six atmospheres). 

There was a hole knocked in the cylinder of the leading van, and the low pressnre 
pipe broken in the fourth and fifth veLicles, but no damage resnlteld to t,he gas service in 
the other vehicles. 

The following questions were specially raised at the Inquiry :- 
(l) The pattern of bloclc instruments in use.-These, as already stated, are Tyer's 

Block Telegraph Instruments, in which the indicator has only two yosit.ious, whereas 
the bloclc instruments in more general use have three positions ; and in the latter, when 
the instrumeilts are not in use, the indicator stands vertical in a neutral position. These 
latter instruments, of course, afford more information to a signalman, as with those in use 
in the cabins concerned in this collision i t  is possible for a man to offer a train to the 
cabin in advance and for the train to be accepted by that c~b in ,  and then to be forgytten 
by both signalmen, the indicator remaining all the time in the ' l  train arrived ?' posltioll, 
which is also the normal position of the indicator when the instrnment is not. 
in use. 

Should a signalman forget to give "train entering section " signal for the first train, 
and then desire to offer n second train on the same line to the cabin in advance, there 
would be nothing to remind him from the ~osit ion of the indicator, on going to the 
block instrument: that he had already had a train accepted on that line, whereas, in the 
case of the instrument with the three-position indicator, he would see at  once that.  the^ 
indicator was not in the normal position, but in the " line clear '' position, showing him 
that he had already had a train accepted on that line. 

This also applies to a man who aixepts a train, as no movement of the indicator is 
made, and the entry in  the Train Book (if made) is the only reminder a man has of 
having accepted a train. 

Block instruments, in which the indicators have only two positions, are still in use 
on some railways, but this pattern has been replaced to a ;ery 1a;ge extent by instruments 
with inlicabrs having three positions, and I consider that it is advisable to do so for the 
signalling of passenger trains at all busy cabins, and where there are several running 
lines worked from a cabin. 

There is a heavy mixed traffic on many sections of the Taff Vale Railway, and 1 
trust the Company will consider the- advisability of replacing the two-position 
instruments by others of an improved pattern with three positions for the indicator, for 
the passenger lines, as opportunity occurs. 

(2) The presence of traffic inspectors in signal-cabins.-The question was raised 
a s .  to the possibility of inspector Tuck's presence in the Rhondda Cutting Junction 
cabin having distracted the attention of signalman Quick from his signalling dutiesj 
and thereby caused him to forget the block signals which Hutchings alleges he sent 
him, regarding the mineral train on No. 1 down line, if such were~sent. 

With regard to this particular case, both inspector Tuck and signalman Quick 
say, as will be seen from the evidence, that there was no interference whatever, and 
i t  is certain that inspector Tuck was not in  the cabin at  the time that Hutchings 
.alleges, he offered, and Quick accepted, the mineral train on No. 1 down line, viz., 
9.23 am.,  and neither of which entries was in Quick's Train Register Book. 
Inspector Tuck was in the cabin at the time the Barry train passed it, and also when 
Quick accepted the passenger train, and the entries regarding these were all made by 
Quiclr in his Train Register Book. 

As to the general question, I think it undesirable that traffic inspectors should 
,question signalmen, regarding delays to traffic on previous occasions, during hours 
when such signalmen are on duty. And I do not think that the Train Register Book 
should be examined in the signal cabins, as it is too much to expect of human nature, 
that a man will not begin to talk to an inspector, who has possibly come to examine the 
causes of delay to trains, which occurred while the same man was on duty, even if the 
-inspector asked no questions. This is what Tuck says happened on this occasion, 
viz., that Quick voluntarily made a statement to him, that he had been called upon to 
make a report about delays to Great Western empties sent up the week before. 

It would appear from the evidence in this case that there was some small delay, 
possibly owing to the presence of inspector Tuck in the signal cabin, before fireman 
1,ewis could get Quick's attention, +,hen he went to the cabin to report his train standing 
at the outer home signal, and it will be seen from the eridence of what vital importance a 
delay of even 30 seconds was at this time. 

Traffic inspectors are no doubt necessary to look into the causes of delays to  tra%c, 



but it is possible to provide two train register books, for use on alternative days, in the 
cabin, when the other can he used whenrequired for reference. 

These remarks do uot of course t o  signalling inspectors who visit signal-boxes 
regarding the act~ml duties of signalmen. 

With regard to Marchant's presence in the Gyfeillon Lower cabin, it was explained 
that he is a gro~~ndman attached to the cabin, whose daties are to check the numbers of 
waggons leavmg the yard, to assist the mineral guards in the yard, and to carry 
instructions from the signalmen to the guards, and that it is found more couvenient to 
give him a desk in the cabin, than in the traffic office in the yard. 

(3) Rule %-The object of this rule is, without doubt, most important, but some- 
times it is said there are di6culties in the way of a man literally obeying it. I n  this. 
case, when the mineral train came to a stand at the Rhondda Cutting outer home signal, 
the driver (Davison) says he h e w  that he could not possibly get a road for a fen- 
mim~tes, as the Barry train passed out on to the line ahead of him just after he came to a 
stand:but he expected to get the signal to proceed as soon as the Barry train had cleared 
the sectiou ahead, which is only 440 yards long, as he knew the passenger train behind 
him was soon due, and if the Barry train had a clear road it would clear the section in 
three to four minutes. Davison thought that if he sent his fireman to the signal-box at, 
once, there might be a delay of three or four minutes while he was returning to the 
foot-plate, so, as the lulxicators required filling, and this could only be done wheu the train 
was at  a standstill, thinking it a good opportunity, the fireman proceeded to  carry out this 
work. This is generally regarded as part of the driver's duties, but I am informed by 
the Company that they do not object to a driver delegating this duty to the fireman, 
should he see fit to do so. The reasons driver Daviscn gave for not doing this ~ o r k  
himself were, that it was customary for the fiseman to do it, as the lubricators were on 
his side of the engine, and that i t  was necessary for him (Davison) to keep an eye on 
the signal, to see when it was taken of? for him to proceed. 

These reasons are not very convincing, for if Davison had sent the fireman to. 
the cabin, there was no necessity for him to watch the signal, as even if he did not- hear. 
it fall to the all right position, he is not supposed to move his train until the fireman has 
returned to the -foot-plate. of the engine, though sometimes drivers dram down to the. 
signal-box to pick up the fireman. 

Lewis, the fireman, states that he took five or six minutes filling the lubricators before 
going to the cabin, and then waited about a minute and a half for an up ti.ain to pass 
before he crossed over to walk down to the cabin. He says it took him four miuutes or so. 
to walk the 240 yards, and then that there was a delay of two minutes before' he was 
atte&d to. The last-named period of time is, I think, doubtful, and probably did not 
exceed 30 seconds. I consider. there was unnecessary delay in Lkwis startingto go to the. 
cabin, and either he took longer than six minutes filling the lubricators, or else longer 
than four minutes to-walk d o w ~  to the cabin, which as the distance 1s 240 yards, is more 
than necessary. ~ . . 

This Rnle was much commented o n  at  the Inquiry. It is said among other reasons. 
why firemen should not have to carry it out, that in ~re iy  many places it is dangerous for  
a fireman to get to a signal-cabin, owing to his having to cross running lines, and 
sidings where shunting is goiugon ; and also that, at some places, where there are many 
running lines, theremay be several firemen at the signal-cabin at the same time, which 
would rather distract the signalman than afford him assistance. Also that there are:, 
many things to be attended to on an engine when the train is standing which the: 
enginemen cannot do when running. . . 

1: think that at  dangerous places, and a t  places where the home signals are at  some- 
distance fromthe cabin, and where-it is important that the traffic should not be delayed,. 
and at signal-boxes where there are several running roads, it is desirable that means  should^. 
be provided, so as to obviate the necessity of firemen having to go to the cabin, but it 
is difficult to lay down any rule 011 the subject, as each place must be considered on its. 
own particular local conditions. This is done by some Companies to a considerableextent, 
alld " others, vhere the signalman has not a .  gooa .view of the line at home, starting, o r  
idvarice starting signals, have laid down insulated rails and track circuit, and an indication 
is given to the signalman mhen anything is standing on the insulated portion at the home. 
signal, and an electric lock is held on the home signal when anything is standing at  the. 
starting o r  advance starting signals. This ht ter  device, in addition to obviating the 
necessity of fireman or guard, as the case may be, having to go to the signal-box to.. 
wrry  o&lt Rule 55, is also of assistance to signalmen, and may prevent mistakes be ing  
made, especially vhere a man has a nuinber of block iustruments to attend to. 

But this Rule 55 is a very. import,ant one, and is well known to all concerned  in^ 



the  movement of trains, and it should be strictly ca,rried out  (except where instructions 
are given to the contrary), and difficulties in  doing so a t  any particular place shoulcl he 
reported to those responsible. 

There is  one sub-section (d) which I think might be further considered as being 
hardly suited to modern codi t ions ,  if strictly carried out in the case of long mineral 
o r  empty waggon trains. These may consist of from 50 to 100 n-aggous and be from 300 
to 600 yards in length, or even more on some railways. 

The  time required for a guard t o  satisfy himself that a fireman has gone to the  
signal box, and the11 return t o  his van, before the train can proceed, must be very 
considerable, and it seems t o  me that  a guard of such a train would be better employed 
in looking out  behind him, especially as in  many cases when delays occur, the  block 
sections are short and the signals behind would, be visible t o  him. Certainly in this case 
the guard of the mineral train, who remained i n  his van, had he  looked, could have 
seen the signals "off " for the passenger train a t  9.43> five minutes before the col$siou 
occurred, as his van was only 40 yards ahead of the  advance starter and 110 yards ahead of 
the starting signal, and he  would have had time t o  have gone back and laid down 
detonators on the line to warn the passenger train of the obstruction ahead, even if h e  
could not have got  to the Gyfeillon Lower signal cabin. 

I have, &C., 
E. DRUITT, 

'The Assistant Secretary, Lt.- Col. 
Railway Department, Board of Trade. 

APPENDIX. 

DAMAGE TO PERMANENT WAY. No. 77, composite (8 wheels and 7 compart- 
2 rods bent ; 21 sleepers broken. merits).-l buffer guide broken ; 1 buffer plunger 

bent ; 1 quarter light broken. 
DAMAGE TO ENGINE. No. 326, third-class carriage (S wheels and S 

Smoke-box and footplate, also buffer-plank compartments). - Not damaged but appears 
damaged ; cylinder gearing, waste water cocks, strained. 
brake gearing, and vacuum pipes damaged ; right- No. 109, third-class carriage (8 wheels and 7 
hand side rod bent, and other minor damage. compartments).-Not damaged. 

No. 236, passenger brake van (6 wheels).-Not 
DAMAGE TO COACHING AND MINERAL STOCK. damaged. 

No. 241, passenger brake van (6 wheels).-A 
total wreck, gas cylinder knocked off and 
punctured at one end, gas exhausted. 

No. 349, third-class carriage (8 wheels and S 
-compartments).-5 compartments totally wrecked: 
,one end of the frame and buffers very badly 
damaged; side steps and step irons badly 
damaged ; 1 axle box 'broken ; 1 bogie damaged ; 
:gas cylinder, high-pressure and low-pressure pipes, 
intact to the stop-cock, gas not exhausted. 

No. 31, composite (S wheels and 6 compart- 
ments).-4 side step irons bent; 1 scroll iron 
broken; 4 axle guards at one end bent; 1 
coupling bent ; gas cylinder, &c. undamaged. 

No. 266, passenger brake van (6 wheels).-Body 
wrecked : underframe badly twisted and bent ; 
gas cylinder not punctured but pipe connections 
broken ; gas exhausted. 

No. 203, third-class carriage (S wheels and 7 
.compartments).-5 'compartments wrecked ; sole- 
bars bent ; one end of frame badly damaged ; 
bogie at one end badly damaged ; side steps and 
step irons broken; gas pipe connection broken 
and  gas exhausted. 

HINERAL STOCK. 

No. 6361. mineral brake van (Taff Tale Rail- 
way).-A t&al wreck. 

No. 1661, Lewis Merthvr coal waggon.-A total -- 
wreck. 

No. 1626, Lewis Merthyr coal waggon.-A total 
wreck. 

No. 1535, Lewis Merthyr coal waggon.-2 head- 
stocks damaged ; one end badly damaged ; 1 curb 
rail broken ; l axle box broken ; both axles bent. 

No. 1485, Lewis Merthyr coal waggon.-2 head- 
stocks damaged ; 1 solebar damaged; 2 ends 
damaged ; 2 buEer plungera bent ; 1 drawbar and 
coupling bent; 1 side damaged ; all iron work 
badly bent. 

No. 1542, Lewis Merthyr coal waggon.--2 head- 
stocks damaged ; 2 end stanchions damaged ; end 
door and bottom damaged ; 4 bnffer plungers 
bent ; one coupling bent ; all iron work bent. 

No. 1508, Lewis Merthyr coal waggon-End 
and bottom boards damaged : 2 buffer plungers 
bent ; two commode handles bent : one axle bent. 


